RECEIVED

Apr 07 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2021-001413

Jacquelyn Gladden and Patricia Reed, Respondents,

v.

Cyndy Reed Stewart, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert B. (Sam) Phillips
SC Bar #16954
The Phillips Firm, LLC
Attorney & Counselor at Law
1025 Calhoun Street, Box 3
Columbia, SC 29201
Sam@PhillipsFirm.Net
(803) 726-4268

Attorney for Appellant.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT CYNDY REED STEWART'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CASE DUE TO A LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.
2. WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT TO FIND DEFENDANT CYNDY REED STEWART WILLFULLY AND WANTONLY COMMITTED THE STATUTORY CRIME OF FORGERY AND IS THEREBY LIABLE TO RESPONDENTS FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Proceedings Before the Richland County Probate Court (2008-2010).

This matter is but one skirmish in a long dispute between Respondents and the Appellant regarding the custody and control of their mother, Theodocia Reed (hereinafter "Mother"), during her life and of her estate following her death on 15 August 2015. During their mother's life, Respondents Jacquelyn Gladden and Patricia Reed filed an action in 2009 with the Richland County Probate Court (Case No.s 2009-GC-40-00009 & 00010) to have Mother declared incompetent and her financial affairs placed under the control of someone other than their sister, Appellant Dr. Cynthia Reed Stewart (hereinafter "Dr. Stewart"). In that action, Respondents Jacquelyn Gladden and Patricia Reed (hereinafter singularly and collectively referred to as "Sisters") challenged Mother's decisions to, *inter alia*, live with Dr. Stewart's family in Florida, allow Dr. Stewart to assist Mother with her financial decision, and allow Dr. Stewart to hold a Power of Attorney for Mother. During a hearing on 19 October 2009, Probate Court Judge Jacqueline D. Belton examined Mother *in camera* and determined she had sufficient capacity to make her own financial and healthcare decisions. Accordingly, Judge Belton denied Sisters' request to appoint a conservator or guardian. *Order Re: Hr'g* (29 Dec 2009) at pp. 4 & 7. The Court noted Mother's decision to permanently reside in Florida with Dr. Stewart and her family

and that Mother's capacity to delegate additional authority over her affairs as she saw fit. *Id.* at p. 8. The Court found that the Sisters had wrongfully used \$8,000.00 of Mother's funds to pay their lawyer to bring the actions and had wrongfully transferred additional funds belonging to Mother into a trust account that was under the Sisters' control. The Court ordered the return of all the funds transferred by the Sisters. *Id.* at p.11.

The parties were back before Judge Belton on 28 June 2010 to address several allegations of non-compliance with the Court's 2009 order. Based on her limited observation of Mother during this hearing, Judge Belton found that Mother "appears" to meet the definition of an incapacitated person and indicated that any "springing" powers of attorney executed by the Mother should be followed by the holders of those powers. *Order Re: Rule to Show Cause* (30 Dec 2010) at p.3. The Court specifically held that Dr. Reed should continue to manage Mother's financial affairs and "continue to be as involved as possible in her affairs, as dictated by her functional capacity and the directives of her powers of attorney. *Id.* at p.4.

Proceedings Before the Bamberg County Probate Court (2015-Present).

Mother passed away in August of 2015. Dr. Stewart opened an Estate for her with the Bamberg Probate Court on 8 September 2015 (Case No. 2015-ES-05-00091). Although Mother's 2008 Will appointed all three (3) of her daughters as Personal Representatives, the Probate Court appointed Dr. Stewart as the sole Personal Representative (hereinafter "PR"). *Order* (02 Oct 2017) at pp.1-2. Respondent Jacquelyn Gladden challenged Dr. Stewart's appointed as sole PR to both the Probate Court, which denied the challenge, and later appeal the Probate Court's decision to the Bamberg County Circuit Court. In a decision entered 2 October 2017, Circuit Court Judge Perry M. Buckner III affirmed the Probate Court and dismissed Ms. Gladden's appeal finding ample evidence to uphold the Probate Court's determination that Ms. Gladden was "unsuitable to act as

personal representative for a number of reasons.” *Order* (Case No. 2017-CP-05-00024) (02 Oct 2017) at p.4. As of the this filing, this action has not been resolved.

Proceedings Before Orangeburg County Circuit Court Leading to this Appeal (2018-Present).

The Sisters filed the action giving rise to this appeal with the Orangeburg County Circuit Court on 9 July 2018. Sisters alleged Causes of Action against Dr. Reed for Forgery, Fraud, Misrepresentation, Lack of Capacity, Insanity, Infirmary of Mind, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Breach of Trust, Self-Dealing, Duress, Undue Influence, Lack of Consideration, Unconscionability, Intentional Interference with Expected Inheritance, Unjust Enrichment, Lack of Good Faith, Quantum Meruit, Quiet Title, and Reformation of Deed. *Summons & Complaint* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) (09 July 2018). The relief requested included, *inter alia*, an award of attorney’s fees. These causes of action all relate to the title of a residential property located at 126 Dickson Street, Orangeburg (TMS#0173-15-17-009.000) (hereinafter “Property”) that Sisters contend Dr. Stewart wrongfully transferred to herself prior to Mother’s death using a Florida power of attorney provided by Mother. *Id.* at p.1.

Dr. Stewart filed a *Motion to Strike, Motion to Dismiss* and *Answer and Counterclaim* on 6 September 2018. Dr. Stewart was represented by attorney Aaron Ness during this initial phase of the case. Mr. Ness¹ and defense counsel subsequently negotiated a *Consent Order* which was entered into the record on 31 October 2018. The *Order* struck “all references in the Complaint to attorney’s fees” and ordered that “no award for attorney’s fees or pendente lite relief shall be granted in this action.” *Consent Order* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) (31 Oct. 2018) at p.1.

¹ Mr. Aaron Ness, who also served as attorney for Mother’s Estate, filed a *Motion to be Relieved as Counsel* for Dr. Stewart in the pending Circuit Court matter on 10 December 2018. Respondent’s counsel filed a *Return* to that Motion on 26 December 2018 and he was relieved by order of the Circuit Court on 14 February 2019. *Order* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) at p.1.

Respondents filed several motions in 2018 and 2019 in the underlying matter including a *Return to Motion to Dismiss, Notice of Motion and Motion on the Pleadings or in the Alternative Motion for Summary Judgment* on 13 February 2019; a *Motion to Compel Discovery Responses* on 6 May 2019; and *Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings or in the Alternative, Summary Judgment* also on 6 May 2019. A hearing for these pending motions was set for the week of 9 July 2019; however, Dr. Stewart applied for and was granted additional time to obtain replacement counsel. *Order* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) (07 Sept 2021) at p.2.

The case was placed on the Orangeburg County Circuit Court docket for the week of 23 September 2019. Attorney David Melnyk filed a *Notice of Appearance* for Dr. Stewart on 2 August 2019 but did not appear at the call of the case. Dr. Stewart appeared and asked for a continuance to obtain alternative counsel which was granted. *Id.* The case was again placed on the Orangeburg County docket for the week of 4 November 2019. *Id.* Attorney Evert Comer, Jr. filed a *Notice of Appearance* that same day and appeared asking the Circuit Court for a continuance, which was denied. The Circuit Court heard the pending motions and entered an *Order* on 10 January 2020 granting reformation of the Property's "deed by putting the deed in the name of all three sisters (the siblings) with equal shares ... [a]ll other motions are DENIED." *Order* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) (07 Sept 2021) at p.3. A second motions hearing was held on 4 November 2019. Following that hearing, the Circuit Court issued an *Order* finding that the pending motions (for dismissal of complaint, summary judgment for plaintiffs, deem admission admitted and compel certain discovery) were resolved by the September 7th *Order* reforming the Property's deed. The Court denied Respondents' Request to Reinstate Attorney's Fees pursuant to the parties *Consent Order* of 31 October 2018 as well as the Respondents' *Motion for Sanctions*

on the same grounds. *Order* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) (10 Jan 2020) at p.3. Respondents filed a *Motion to Reconsider this Rule or in the Alternative Leave to Seek Damages from the Probate Court* on 16 January 2020. By *Order* filed 29 January 2020, the Court explained that of the many causes of action raised in the respondent’s Complaint, only the reformation issue was resolved by Dr. Stewart’s concession and that the “remaining causes of action were not addressed” by the Court’s earlier order. *Order* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) (29 Jan 2020) at p.1.

The matter was eventually tried before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein without a jury on 19 and 20 April 2021. Undersigned Counsel filed a *Notice of Appearance* on 15 April 2021 and represented Dr. Stewart during the trial of this matter. Judge Goodstein rendered her *Final Order and Judgment* in this matter on 7 September 2021. Dr. Stewart filed a *Motion to Reconsider* on 17 September 2021 which was denied by Order filed 08 November 2021. A Notice of Appeal was filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on 09 December 2021.

Additional Proceedings Before Bamberg County Probate Court (2020-Present).

On 6 July 2020, Sisters filed a petition with the Bamberg County Probate Court to remove Dr. Stewart as the PR of Mother’s Estate on the same grounds advanced in the 2018 lawsuit before the Orangeburg County Circuit Court - the transfer of the Property from Mother to Dr. Stewart. *Probate Court Petition* (Case No. 2015-ES-05-00091) at p.1. A copy of the summons and complaint from the circuit court case was attached to probate court petition. Sisters sought an award of attorneys fees in the Probate Court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §62-8-17.² *Id.*

² The Circuit Court awarded the Sisters attorney’s fees pursuant to this same statutory provision in the Order that is the subject of this appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The first issue on appeal primarily pertains to the subject matter jurisdiction of both circuit and probate courts. Subject matter jurisdiction is the power of a court to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong. *Gantt v. Selph*, 423 S.C. 333, 337, 814 S.E.2d 523, 525 (2018). While the power of a circuit court is set forth in South Carolina’s Constitution, the subject matter of the probate court is defined by statute. *Compare S.C. Const. art. V, §11* (“The Circuit Court shall be a general trial court with original jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases, except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts.”) *with S.C. Code Ann. §62-1-302(a)(1)* (“To the full extent permitted by the Constitution, and except as otherwise specifically provided, the probate court has exclusive original jurisdiction over all subject matter related to: estates of decedents, including the contest of wills, construction of wills, determination of property in which the estate of a decedent or a protected person has an interest ... except that the circuit court also has jurisdiction to determine heirs and successors as necessary to resolve real estate matters, including partition, quiet title, and other actions pending in the circuit court.”) In both instances, the issue of whether a court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law that is reviewed “de novo” by an appellate court. *Simmons v. Simmons*, 392 S.C. 412, 414, 709 S.E.2d 666, 667 (2011); *see also Canady v. Charleston County School Dist.*, 265 S.C. 21, 24, 216 S.E.2d 755, 757 (1975) (an appellate court “has both the power and duty to review the entire record and find therefrom the jurisdiction facts ... and will decide the jurisdiction question in accord with the preponderance of the evidence.”).

The second issue on appeal primarily pertains to an action at law tried by the trial judge wherein “the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed on appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings.” *Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of*

Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 SE.2d 773, 775 (1976); *abrogated on other grounds by In re Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 816 S.E.2d 542 (2018).

ARGUMENTS

1. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT CYNDY REED STEWART’S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CASE DUE TO A LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

Dr. Stewart, by and through her attorney, moved to have this action dismissed due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Trial Tr. p.25, ln. 13 to p.26, ln. 5. Section 62-1-302 sets forth the jurisdiction of the probate court and provides in pertinent part that the court has “exclusive original jurisdiction over all subject matter related to estates of decedents, including the contest of wills, construction of wills, determination of property in which the estate of a decedent or a protect person has an interest” subject to the limitation that “the circuit court also has jurisdiction to determine heirs and successors as necessary to resolve real estate matters, including partition, quiet title, and other actions pending in the circuit court.” S.C. Code §62-1-302(a)(1) (2021).

The Probate Code specifies a specific process required to move matters from the exclusive jurisdiction of the probate court to the circuit court:

Notwithstanding the exclusive jurisdiction of the probate court over the foregoing matters, any action or proceeding filed in the probate court and relating to the following subject matters, on motion of a party, or by the court on its own motion, made not later than ten days following the date on which all responsive pleadings must be filed, must be removed to the circuit court and in these cases the circuit court shall proceed upon the matter de novo.

S.C. Code §62-1-302(d). Actions to “try title concerning property in which the estate of a decedent or protected person asserts an interest” is subject to this motion process for removing matters to circuit court. *Id.* at Section 62-1-302(d)(3). In this action, there was no motion made to the Bamberg County Probate Court to remove the dispute over the Property to the Orangeburg County

Circuit Court. Although title to the Property was transferred to Dr. Stewart just prior to Mother's death, many of the issues surrounding the Property were before the Probate Court such as the fidelity of Dr. Stewart as the personal representative (PR) and fiduciary to the Estate, Dr. Stewart's claims to reimbursement for person funds she advanced regarding maintenance of the Property, and the viability of the Sisters' claims for attorneys fees which is addressed in greater detail in next Issue. While the Sisters will now claim a separation of the Property from the Estate in order to find jurisdiction for this action, their own actions acknowledge the connection of the Property to the Estate. After Dr. Stewart agreed to relinquish her sole title to the Property in January 2020, Respondents' attorneys prepared a Warranty Deed conveying title to the Property from Dr. Stewart to Mother's Estate rather than to each of the parties individually. Trial Ex. 11. Although title to real property is generally considered to transfer at death, it is subject to requirements falling under the exclusive jurisdiction of the probate court.

The power of a person to leave property by will and the rights of creditors, devisees, and heirs to his property are subject to the restrictions and limitations contained in [the Probate] Code to facilitate the prompt settlement of estates, including the exercise of the powers of the [PR]. Upon the death of a person, his real property devolves to the persons to whom it is devised by his last will or to those indicated as substitutes for them ... or in the absence of testamentary disposition, to his heirs ... subject to the purpose of satisfying claims as to exempt property rights and the rights of creditors, and the purposes of administration.

Estate of Livingston v. Livingston, 404 S.C. 137, 744 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2013); see also S.C. Code §62-3-709 ("Except as otherwise provided by a decedent's will, every [PR] has a right to, and shall take possession or control of, the decedent's property, except that any real property or tangible personal property may be left with or surrendered to the person presumptively entitled thereto unless or until, in the judgment of the [PR], possession of the property by him will be necessary for purposes of administration.").

In a similar action, our Supreme Court considered the interaction between the jurisdictions of the circuit and probate courts in a dispute over real property that was part of an estate in *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 712 S.E.2d 408 (2011). The *Judy* court recognized that a probate court’s jurisdiction over “claims” encompasses “liabilities of the decedent or protected person whether arising in contract, *in tort*, or otherwise, and liabilities of the estate which arise at or after the death of the decedent or after the appointment of a conservator....” 712 S.E.2d 413, *citing* S.C. Code Ann. §62-1-201(4). The *Judy* court held that the probate court had jurisdiction over a tort action for waste, even though such claims “are generally file in circuit court” because “the General Assembly has provided limited jurisdiction for the probate court to consider actions for waste in the context of testamentary matters.” *Id.* *Judy* follows the precedent of *Vaughn v. Landford*, 81 S.C. 282, 62 S.E. 316 (1908) wherein our Supreme Court found that an action for partition, waste, betterments and rent, which would ordinarily be adjudicated in different forums, should be handled by a single court based on the principle that “when all the parties and the property are before the court of equity, it will do full justice to all before releasing its hold.” 712 S.E.2d at 414.

The transfer of the Property back to Mother’s Estate also renders Sisters’ claims in this matter moot. Generally, the “threshold inquiry for any court is a determination of justiciability, i.e., whether the litigation presents an active case or controversy.” *Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 498 S.E.2d 906, 906 (S.C. Ct. App. 1998). “The concept of justiciability encompasses the doctrines of ... mootness.” *Jackson v. State*, 489 S.E.2d 915, 917 n.2 (S.C. 1997). “A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical effect upon [an] existing controversy.” *Seabrook v. City of Folly Beach*, 523 S.E.2d 462, 463 (S.C. 1999). The retitling of the Property in the name of Mother’s Estate effectively removed the Property from the jurisdiction of this Court by placing it under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Bamberg Probate Court. See S.C. Code Section

62-1-302(a)(1) (“To the full extent permitted by the Constitution ... the probate court has exclusive original jurisdiction over all subject matter related to ... estates of decedents.”); see also *Venture Engineering v. Tishman Const. Corp.*, 600 S.E.2d 547 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004) (sale of property that was part of a bankruptcy estate rendered claims against that property moot).

In this matter, Plaintiffs have deliberately and simultaneously pursued claims of impropriety against Dr. Stewart in two pending lawsuits: the instant action and the probate matter of *In re Carrie Theodocia K. Reed*, Case No. 2015-ES-05-0091. Now that the Property is an Estate asset, the Probate Court will have to consider the distribution of the Property amongst the sisters and determine whether Dr. Stewart is entitled to reimbursement of the funds she personally advanced to the Estate as well as whether she is entitled as a beneficiary under Mother’s will. *Naturally, any ruling by this Court in this Action will be prejudicial to the ability of the Bamberg Probate Court to fully adjudicate Mother’s pending estate.*

2. WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT TO FIND DEFENDANT CYNDY REED STEWART WILLFULLY AND WANTONLY COMMITTED THE STATUTORY CRIME OF FORGERY AND IS THEREBY LIABLE TO RESPONDENTS FOR ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS.

Appellant maintains it was error to enter judgment against her pursuant to the statutory provisions of Sections 62-8-117 and 16-13-10. Section 16-13-10 makes it a criminal offense punishable up to ten years in prison and a \$10,000 fine to falsely make, forge, or counterfeit or willfully assist in the false making, forging, or counterfeiting of any writing or instrument of writing. S.C. Code Ann. §16-13-10(A). The Court held that the Deed transferring the Property was “willfully and wantonly forged.” *Order* (Case No. 2018-CP-38-00874) (07 Sept 2021) at p.8.

As a preliminary matter, Appellant maintains it was an error of law for the Circuit Court, sitting as a Court of Common Pleas adjudicating civil allegations of fraud, to find a violation of a criminal statute such as Section 16-13-10. While the circuit court is “a general trial court with

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