RECEIVED

Jul 28 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001413

Jacquelyn Gladden and Patricia Reed Respondents

v.

Cyndy Reed Stewart. Appellant.

INITIAL RESPONDENTS BRIEF

Margaret A. Collins
Elizabeth D. Moore
Palmetto State Law Group, LLC
2241 Bush River Road
Columbia, SC 29210
meg@pslawsc.com
lizzy@pslawsc.com

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

Appellant also does not appear to recognize that the actions of Appellant and issues before the Circuit court were not "testamentary in nature," as it relating to an *inter vivos* deed. *See Brown v. Butler, ibid*.

Additionally, Appellant fails to concede that that, if brought during the life of the Decedent, very little would have changed in this litigation. Appellant still violated a standing Court Order of the Richland County Probate Court; abused her fiduciary duties and authority as Power of Attorney; and engaged in fraudulent actions and conduct by having a judicially determined incompetent individual sign a subsequent Power of Attorney that removed the real estate conveyance limitation.

Additionally, none of the Appellant's arguments take into consideration the Circuit courts own awareness of its authority. During oral arguments of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss immediately preceding the trial, the Court listed the causes of action to identify any that were improper for it to hear. The Older Sisters voluntarily dismissed several of the causes of action, and the Court further limited the case by dismissing Intentional Interference with Expected Inheritance as improperly before it and being within the purview of the Probate Court during the Estate proceedings. The Court stated, "[I]nsofar as what happened to that piece of property, vis-à-vis the estate, I'm not going to hear that. That's for the probate court." *Trial Tr. pg. 26, ln. 23.* Further, the only party that continued to attempt to cross the line and involve matters that should only be heard by the Estate was the Appellant. Older Sisters' counsel consistently objected to relevancy when such issues were raised. *E.g., Trial Tr. pg. 173-177.*

The attorney's fees argument advanced by the Older Sisters was for the frivolous and bad acts that Appellant engaged in during the litigation. As is evident in the Transcript, Appellant had the matter continued numerous times, hiring and firing attorneys for what Older Sisters believe were dilatory only. She also brought up arguments about her contributions to the property during the life of the Decedent, promising relevance, while not relating to the matters brought before the Court by the Older Sisters. *Trial Tr. pg. 237, ln. 22-25; pg.238, ln. 8-19; pg.*

241, ln. 18-25; pg. 242, ln. 1-22; pg. 243, ln. 1-15; pg. 250, ln. 14-24; pg. 251-252, ln. 1-11.

Additionally, Appellant provided testimony about her contributions to the property in dispute, both during the life of the Decedent, and while individually owned by Appellant which was after Decedent's death. *Id.*

Finally, as applied to Appellant's argument that the "fidelity of [the Appellant] as personal representative" should be before the Probate Court. It is, by way of the Petition for Removal of Personal Representative pending in the Bamberg County Probate Court and filed after the Orangeburg Circuit Court case. See *Appellant's Brief*, pg. 11. While some argument can be made that Appellant was not able to do anything until after the appeal that was denied in October 2017, that is still over two years before the Probate action was stayed by the filing of the Petition for Removal. The filing date of the Removal was as Appellant indicated in her Brief, July 6, 2020. *Id at 8*. The Circuit court action that is currently under appeal was filed July 9, 2018-an entire two (2) years prior.

For these reasons, Appellant's argument that the Probate court had exclusive jurisdiction should fail. At the initial filing of the action, Circuit court was the only court that possessed jurisdiction, and applicable case law indicates that once a court of concurrent jurisdiction is utilized, that court must complete the action. Additionally, and more importantly, all events and actions complained occurred during the life of the Decedent and were not testamentary in nature. Should the Decedent have still been alive at the time of the proceedings, it is unlikely that anything would have substantially changed, given that the action complained of took place during her life. The fact that the Decedent passed prior to the discovery of the action that led to this suit, does not alter that the Circuit Court has jurisdiction. Appellant's own filings in the Probate Court further supports that Probate Court would have been an inappropriate forum to

bring this action. Finally, the fact that the outcome may or may not affect the status of a separate pending litigation does not necessarily divest a court of its jurisdiction.

II. THE ISSUES OF FORGERY, FRAUD, MISREPRESENTATION, BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY, BREACH OF TRUST, AND SELF DEALING WERE NOT MOOT.

In order for a party to be heard by a court they must first qualify by having standing, in a controversy, that is ripe. Justiciability is required to pursue a litigation. Mootness is the antithesis to ripeness and means that the matter is either speculative or stale- no relief can be granted. A justiciable controversy exists when there is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination. *Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 25; 630 S.E.2d 474, 477(2006). However, while mootness can be the death of a claim or controversy, there are exception that may allow a court to hear issues that would otherwise be categorized as moot. These exceptions are the issue is repetitive, or capable of repetition but evades review; of imperative manifest urgency to public interest; and may affect future events or have collateral consequences for the parties. *Holden v. Cribb*, 348 S.C. 132, 138; 561 S.E.2d 634, 638(Ct. App. 2002).

In *Sloan*, the question of mootness was raised as the controversy surrounded the production of documents pursuant to FOIA. *Sloan at 24,476-477*. At the time the matter came to trial, the documents had been produced. *Id. at 26, 477*. The Court reviewed exceptions to mootness, but ultimately found that the exceptions did not apply. *Id. 28, 479*. Conversely, in *Holden* the Court found that an exception to mootness did apply, specifically that the controversy was capable of repetition, yet evading review. *Holden at 138, 637-638*. Whereas *Sloan* only cited to two exceptions, 1) issue capable of repetition, but evading review, and 2) questions of important public interest, *Holden* cites to a third, where a decision by the trial court may affect future

events or have collateral consequences for the parties. *Sloan at 26-27, 478; Holden at 138, 637-638; both citing Curtis v. State of South Carolina 345 S.C. 557, 568; 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001).*

Tied into Appellant's argument for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, Appellant also raises an issue of mootness. Appellant takes the position, that once she conveyed the property back to the estate, all other issues were rendered moot. As is seen from the record, transferal of the property did render several of the alleged causes of actions moot, and they were dismissed. *Trial Tr. pg. 17, ln.13-20.* However, conveyance of the property back to the estate did not address the issues of the signature of "Theodocia K. Reed" appearing on the Quitclaim Deed; or the fact that Appellant executed a Florida Power of Attorney after the Decedent was determined to be incapacitated and used such power of attorney to justify the deed. The reconveyance did not magically erase the forgery/fraudulent and misrepresentative actions that Appellant took or the years of continual delays and gamesmanship that the Appellant engaged in while the Older Sisters sought to resolve those issues.

Even if *in arguendo*, the Appellant was correct and the issues were moot, there is an applicable exception. A judicial ruling on the matters of Forgery, Fraud, Misrepresentation, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Breach of Trust, and Self-Dealing has collateral consequences for the Appellant and the Older Sisters. As Appellant has included in her brief, there is a pending probate, and due to the information gained during this civil litigation, the Older Sisters did file an appropriate action in the Probate court. This places those issues squarely within the third exception to mootness.

For these reasons, the remaining issues of Forgery, Fraud, Misrepresentation, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Breach of Trust, and Self-Dealing were not moot and properly heard by the Circuit court.

III. THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF WILLFUL AND WANTON CONDUCT AND SUBSTANTIAL JUSTIFICATION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

Older Sisters made some heavy allegations against the Appellant in this case. That is not lost on them, nor do they believe that it was lost on the Circuit court. A finding of willful and wantonness requires clear and convincing evidence, as does any request for punitive damages as punitive damages require a finding of willfulness. *Taylor v. Medenica*, 324 S.C. 200, 222; 479 S.E.2d 35, 46 (1996); *Kennedy v. Richland County School District*, 428 S.C. 98, 120-121; 833 S.E.2d 414, 426 (Ct. App. 2019). There are several ways a court can find that conduct is willful. The party in question may have made a conscious effort to exercise due care, or engaged in negligence *per se*, which while not dispositive of willful conduct, does help support a finding of willfulness. *Taylor* at 221, 46 and *Fairchild v. SC Dept. Transport*, 398 S.C. 90, 99; 727 S.E.2d 407, 411-412 (2012). The ultimate question is 'would a person of ordinary reason or prudence be conscious of the act as an invasion of the rights of another?' *Fairchild* at 99, 411-412.

In *Taylor*, a medical malpractice case, clear and convincing evidence was found to support an award for punitive damages. The doctor failed to use standard treatments, chose treatments for which there was no academic or medical support for use on the condition being treated, failed to inform the patient of the risks of such treatment, failing to notice a secondary condition arise from the treatment, as well as ordered unnecessary tests and billed the patient for those tests. *Taylor* at 221, 46. Overall, the doctor made a conscious failure to exercise due care. *Id.* Similarly in *Kennedy*, a jury found that appellants acted with a conscious disregard for due care

and the Court upheld the submission of the same to the jury. *Fairchild* 122-123, 427. In reviewing the submission of the circuit court to the jury, the Court found that clear and convincing evidence existed to permit the jury's finding. *Id.* The circuit court in *Fairchild* was actually reverse for failing to put the issue of punitive damages to the jury. The Supreme Court upheld the Court of Appeals reversal, find that there was sufficient evidence to create a question of recklessness for the jury. *Fairchild* 101, 413.

The Circuit court found Appellant, "willfully and wantonly forged the Deed to the Orangeburg property; breached her duty as (sic) Personal Representative; and attempted to defraud Ms. Gladden and Ms. Reed . . . intentionally executed the Florida Power of Attorney to obfuscate the South Carolina Power of Attorney and intentionally transferred the property to herself for her own benefit." *Final Order and Judgement*, pg. 8. The Circuit court also attributed the continual delay and prolonging of the litigation to the Appellant. Appellant attempts to argue that there was insufficient evidence to support such findings; however, her own testimony and her numerous requests for continuances upon the call of the case provides the basis for most of these findings.

Appellant testified repeatedly that the Decedent and her had conversations about the property prior to her death, notwithstanding numerous hearsay and "Dead Man Statute" objections. However, Decedent requested and received a court order prohibiting the disposition of her real property by any of the sisters. Decedent then followed up with executing a new power of attorney adopting the Richland County Probate Court's order - expressly prohibiting the Appellant from transferring any real property. These actions took place after some of the conversations that Appellant indicated occurred. *Trial Tr.* pg. 257, ln. 12-15; 258, ln. 5-10. Appellant specifically testified that the property should have been conveyed 10 years before the

Quitclaim Deed in favor of Appellant was recorded, placing such discussions in 2005. *Trial Tr. pg. 298, ln. 2.* However, the Decedent's request and the Richland Probate Order was issued after this 2005 period.

Notwithstanding the new Power of Attorney and the standing Court Order, Appellant maintains that she was not acting in her own self-interest and does not acknowledge her actions violated the prior Probate Order. Appellant also apparently is disregarding her own testimony that the property was not expressly carved out in the Last Will and Testament of Theodocia K. Reed executed in June 2008 – again after these purported discussions of the Decedent's intent to convey the Orangeburg property to Appellant. *Trial Tr. pg. 286, ln. 7-14 and Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 at pg. 1.*

Additionally, it is clear from Appellant's testimony that given the disputes between the siblings and Appellant's involvement in the execution of both a Will and powers of attorneys in 2008, that she was familiar with the legal effect of these documents. More than that, she was aware that such documents were legal in nature. However, her testimony reflects that she elected to rely on recommendations from non-attorneys, and non-South Carolina notaries, despite her previous knowledge and experience. *Trial Tr. pg. 274, ln. 17-23.* Appellant consciously disregarded due care and consideration. Additionally, by her own testimony she did not trust the 2010 power of attorneys solely because she was not involved in their creation. *Trial Tr. pg. 277, ln. 22-25; 278, ln. 1-3.* As for the Florida Power of Attorney, Appellant testified that she relied on the advice of medical personnel. However, the medical personnel were never informed of the existence of the 2010 Power of Attorney granted to Appellant. *Trial Tr. pg. 279, ln. 22-25; 280-282.* She also clearly did not advise the drafter of the Florida Power of Attorney of the Richland Probate Orders either.

Additionally, there was testimony from both the Older Sisters and Appellant, that Appellant had previously signed documents as a power of attorney, and in those signatures, she did not just sign the Decedent's name - in line with the legal information she was given in 2008. *Trial Tr. pg. 144, ln. 13-25; 145 ln. 1-7*. However, at the advice of a non-attorney, Appellant tries to argue that she is excused for signing the Decedent's name, and that it is not forgery. *Trial Tr. pg. 287, ln. 9-25; 288*. Again, there was a conscious disregard of reasonable behavior.

Appellant additionally argues that the Court erred in finding a violation of a criminal statute. A reading of the Final Order and Judgment shows that is not what happened. Appellant even cites the language in her brief. The Civil Court found that she "willfully and wantonly forged the Deed" but there is no additional language that says, 'in violation of criminal statutes.' The use of the word forgery was to support that the Appellant's actions were willful and wanton, and that she acted if not reckless, then knowingly when she "breached her duty as Personal Representative [sic – Power of Attorney was the intended term]; and attempted to defraud [the Older Sisters] intentionally executed the Florida Power of Attorney to obfuscate the South Carolina Power of Attorney, and intentionally transferred the property to herself for her own benefit." *Final Order and Judgement, pg. 8*.

Additionally, Appellant failed to raise any objection to the allegation of forgery being before the Circuit Court during the trial or at any time prior to this appeal, despite the Court and the parties going over the causes of action to be tried extensively. (*see Trial Tr. pg. 18, ln. 21-25; pg. 19, ln. 1-19*) Appellant's brief does not contest that the Circuit Court would have subject matter jurisdiction. *Appellant's Brief, pg. 14*. Therefore, such issue is not properly raised for the first time on appeal. Further, it is not uncommon for there to be civil review of criminal statutes for civil relief, or the use of criminal conduct to support a civil finding. *F. Dean Rainey, Jr.,*

Negligence Per Se in South Carolina: The Effect Given in Civil Action to the Violations of Criminal Statutes, 11 S. C. L. Rev. 207(1959). While the review focuses on how violations of criminal statutes apply to allegations of negligence, the same theories are applicable to claims of willful misconduct, if not more so.

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